MOUNTAIN-PLAINS CONSORTIUM

MPC 24-543 | G. Hua, B. Olevson, P. Dai, A. Kouanda, K. Min and C. Schmit

BACTERIA REMOVAL FROM STORMWATER RUNOFF USING STEEL BYPRODUCT FILTERS





A University Transportation Center sponsored by the U.S. Department of Transportation serving the Mountain-Plains Region. Consortium members:

Colorado State University North Dakota State University South Dakota State University University of Colorado Denver University of Denver University of Utah Utah State University University of Wyoming

Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession	No. 3. Rec	ipient's Catalog No.	
MPC-597				
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Rep	ort Date	
De starie Demouel fram Starmouster Dur off Hainer Staal Duras dust Filtere			August 2024	
Bacteria Removal from Stormwater	Runon Using Steer Bypr	6. Per	erforming Organization Code	
7. Author(s)		8. Perl	orming Organization	Report No.
Guanghui Hua Brenden Olevson Peng Dai Abdoul Kouanda			MPC 24-543	
Kyungnan Min Christopher Schmit				
9. Performing Organization Name and Add	ress	10. Wo	ork Unit No. (TRAIS)	
Department of Civil and Environr	nental Engineering	11.00	ntraat as Crant No	
South Dakota State University Brookings, South Dakota			ntract of Grant No.	
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address	3	13. Ty	pe of Report and Pe	riod Covered
Mountain-Plains Consortium			Final Repor	t
North Dakota State University PO Box 6050, Fargo, ND 58108		14. Sp	onsoring Agency Co	de
15. Supplementary Notes				
Supported by a grant from the US I	DOT, University Transpor	tation Centers Program		
16. Abstract				
Escherichia coli (E. coli) is often used as an indicator organism to quantify the microbial safety of natural water resources. E. coli in stormwater runoff can cause serious health risks in natural water bodies. Conventional stormwater best management practices are generally not effective at removing E. coli from stormwater runoff. A new filtration technology using recycled steel byproducts has been developed to remove E. coli from stormwater. Steel chips and steel slag are two common steel byproducts that showed high capacities for E. coli removal. The main objective of this study was to evaluate the long-term performance of steel byproduct filters and provide recommendations for future field applications. Laboratory and field scale studies were conducted to determine the impact of material mixing ratios and operation time on the filter performance. The results showed that the steel byproduct filter exhibited consistent E. coli removal during three consecutive years of operation. Steel chips to steel slag in the steel byproduct filter resulted in higher E. coli removal. However, large quantities of steel chips in the filter may cause material agglomeration during filter operation, which can negatively affect the hydraulic properties of the filter. We recommend that the steel chips to steel slag ratios should not exceed 30% for field scale applications based on the results of this study.				
17. Key word 18. Distribution Statement				
runoff, steel, water quality mana	, recycled materials, igement			
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Classif. (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price
Unclassified Unclassified		ed	56	n/a

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72) Reproduction of completed page authorized

Bacteria Removal from Stormwater Runoff Using Steel Byproduct Filters

Guanghui Hua Brenden Olevson Peng Dai Abdoul Kouanda Kyungnan Min Christopher Schmit

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering South Dakota State University Brookings, South Dakota

August 2024

Acknowledgements

This study was funded by the US Department of Transportation (USDOT) through the Mountain Plains Consortium (MPC) - University Transportation Center (UTC), East Dakota Water Development District, and South Dakota State University. We also thank the technical support from the City of Brookings, SD, on the field stormwater filtration study.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation, University Transportation Centers Program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

NDSU does not discriminate in its programs and activities on the basis of age, color, gender expression/identity, genetic information, marital status, national origin, participation in lawful offcampus activity, physical or mental disability, pregnancy, public assistance status, race, religion, sex, sexual orientation, spousal relationship to current employee, or veteran status, as applicable. Direct inquiries to: Vice Provost, Title IX/ADA Coordinator, Old Main 201, 701-231-7708, ndsu.eoaa@ndsu.edu.

ABSTRACT

Escherichia coli (E. coli) is often used as an indicator organism to quantify the microbial safety of natural water resources. E. coli in stormwater runoff can cause serious health risks in natural water bodies. Conventional stormwater best management practices are generally not effective at removing E. coli from stormwater runoff. A new filtration technology using recycled steel byproducts has been developed to remove E. coli from stormwater. Steel chips and steel slag are two common steel byproducts that showed high capacities for E. coli removal. The main objective of this study was to evaluate the long-term performance of steel byproduct filters and provide recommendations for future field applications. Laboratory and field scale studies were conducted to determine the impact of material mixing ratios and operation time on the filter performance. The results showed that the steel byproduct filter exhibited consistent E. coli removal during three consecutive years of operation. Steel chips to steel slag are effective filter materials for long-term field applications. Higher ratios of steel chips to steel slag in the steel byproduct filter resulted in higher E. coli removal. However, large quantities of steel chips in the filter may cause material agglomeration during filter operation, which can negatively affect the hydraulic properties of the filter. We recommend that the steel chips to steel slag ratios should not exceed 30% for field scale applications based on the results of this study.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	. 1
	1.1 Stormwater Pollution	. 1
	1.1.1 Stormwater Pollution Sources	. 1
	1.1.2 Stormwater Composition and Contaminants	2
	1.1.3 Stormwater Management Practices	. 3
	1.2 E. Coli Occurrence and Treatment Technologies	3
	1.2.1 E. Coli Occurrence	. 3
	1.2.2 Conventional Treatment for E. Coli	. 4
	1.2.3 Emerging Technologies for E. Coli	6
•	1.3 Project Objectives	. /
2.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 8
	2.1 Lab studies of Steel Byproducts	. 8
	2.1.1 Introduction	. 8
	2.1.2 E. Coli Preparation	. 8
	2.1.3 Laboratory Materials	. 8
	2.1.4 Batch Studies	10
	2.1.5 Column Studies	11
	2.2 Field Stormwater Filtration Studies	13
	2.2.1 Filter Materials	13
	2.2.2 2018–2020 Field Study	15
	2.2.5 2021 Field Study	13
	2.3 7 Analytical Methods	17
	2.3.1 D. Con Analysis	18
	2.3.2 Other Water Quarty Futureters	18
3	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	19
	2.1. Potch Study of E. Coli Domoval Vinction	10
	3.2 E. Coli Removal by Steel Chips Column	20
	3.3 E. Coli Removal by Steel Slag Column	20
	3.4 Steel Slag and Steel Chip Ratios	22
	3.5 SEM analysis	24
	3.6 Field Stormwater Filtration Studies Results	26
	3.6.1 2019 Field Filtration Study	26
	3.6.2 2020 Field Filtration Study	30
	3.6.3 2021 Field Filtration Study	35
	3.6.4 Comparison of 2019–2021 Field Data	39
4.	CONLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	41
RE	FERENCES	42

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	New and aged steel slag materials	9
Figure 2.2	New and aged steel chip materials	10
Figure 2.3	Benchtop orbital shaker used for batch studies	11
Figure 2.4	Reactor setup for column experiments	13
Figure 2.5	Field stormwater filter site location	14
Figure 2.6	Stormwater detention pond for the stormwater filtration study	14
Figure 2.7	Filter material agglomeration observed during the field study	15
Figure 2.8	Removal of aged materials from the field filter	16
Figure 2.9	Adjustment of steel byproduct ratio in field filter	16
Figure 2.10	Pilot scale steel byproduct filter after ratio adjustment	17
Figure 3.1	Steel chips batch study results	19
Figure 3.2	Steel slag batch study results	20
Figure 3.3	Erlenmeyer flasks with 1 gram of material after 24-hour adsorption time	20
Figure 3.4	E. coli removal by steel chips in column study	21
Figure 3.5	E. coli removal by steel slag in column study	22
Figure 3.6	The mixed materials prior to being placed in the columns	23
Figure 3.7	E. coli removal by steel slag and steel chip mixtures in column study	23
Figure 3.8	SEM images of steel byproducts at 10 um	24
Figure 3.9	SEM images of steel byproducts at 20 um	25
Figure 3.10	SEM images of steel byproducts at 50 um	26
Figure 3.11	E. coli removal in 2019 field stormwater filtration study	27
Figure 3.12	Iron concentrations in 2019 field stormwater filtration study	28
Figure 3.13	Total phosphate removal in 2019 field stormwater filtration study	29
Figure 3.14	Orthophosphate removal in 2019 field stormwater filtration study	29
Figure 3.15	E. coli removal in 2020 field stormwater filtration study	30
Figure 3.16	Total phosphate removal in 2020 field stormwater filtration study	31
Figure 3.17	Orthophosphate removal in 2020 field stormwater filtration study	31
Figure 3.18	Iron concentrations in 2020 field stormwater filtration study	32
Figure 3.19	Nitrate removal in 2020 field stormwater filtration study	33
Figure 3.20	Total nitrogen removal in 2020 field stormwater filtration study	34
Figure 3.21	E. coli removal in 2021 field stormwater filtration study.	35
Figure 3.22	Iron concentrations in 2021 field stormwater filtration study	36
Figure 3.23	Orthophosphate removal in 2021 field stormwater filtration study	37
Figure 3.24	Total phosphorus removal in 2021 field stormwater filtration study	38
Figure 3.25	Nitrate removal in 2021 field stormwater filtration study	38
Figure 3.26	Total nitrogen removal in 2021 field stormwater filtration study	39
Figure 3.27	Pilot scale steel byproduct filter performance from 2019-2021	40

LIST OF TABLES

U.S. EPA recreational water recommendations	3
Characteristics of steel slag in the column study	. 11
Characteristics of steel chips in the column study	. 12
Characteristics of the steel byproducts mixture in the column study	. 12
Characteristics of stormwater events for 2021 field study	. 17
	U.S. EPA recreational water recommendations Characteristics of steel slag in the column study Characteristics of steel chips in the column study Characteristics of the steel byproducts mixture in the column study Characteristics of stormwater events for 2021 field study

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction

Water pollution has become increasingly problematic as global populations and industrialization continue to rise. Nonpoint source pollution is a major source of pollution in stormwater. It is a challenge to track and control nonpoint source pollution because it comes from a seemingly infinite number of sources. All unregulated activities like fertilization, improperly managed land use, chemical spills, and others contribute to pollution sources. These activities contribute to nonpoint source pollution by combining with runoff generated during storm events. Stormwater runoff occurs when precipitation events cause an excess amount of water to flow over surfaces; the runoff often picks up pollutants and contaminants, which can pose a threat to water systems. Therefore, it is important to develop technologies to control stormwater contamination.

To manage stormwater and protect aquatic ecosystems, there are several stormwater management practices frequently used. The most common are detention and retention ponds. Both are designed to hold runoff from precipitation events to prevent sudden flooding or pollution in natural water systems. Wetlands are another common stormwater management practice that uses a variety of plants to control stormwater quality. Although these conventional technologies can remove some common water contaminants such as suspended particles, they are not effective at removing microorganisms. Pathogenic microorganisms in water may cause serious harm to human and animal health depending on the type and their abundance. Among different types of microorganisms in natural waters, Escherichia coli (E. coli) is commonly used to indicate potential health risks for human purposes. E. coli is often used as an indicator organism to quantify the microbial safety of natural water resources.

A new filtration technology using steel byproducts has been developed to remove E. coli from stormwater. Two common byproducts from steel production are steel chips and steel slag, both of which are easily obtained and inexpensive. The application of these materials in removing E. coli has been studied in recent years. The results showed that steel chips and steel slag are effective filtration materials for E. coli removal. A field scale study in the City of Brookings demonstrates that a mixed media filter with steel chips and steel slag effectively removed E. coli from stormwater at a residential detention pond.

The main objective of this study was to provide a recommendation for future field application of steel byproducts in E. coli removal in stormwater. Previous studies have shown steel byproducts have potential in removing high percentages of E. coli from stormwater through lab scale and field scale testing. An evaluation of the long-term performance of steel byproducts was required to recommend future applications of steel byproducts in E. coli removal in stormwater. To accomplish this, lab scale testing and field scale testing were done. For lab scale testing, batch and column studies were performed to examine the impact of an aging and steel byproduct ratio on E. coli removal. Using this information, field scale testing was performed using varying steel byproduct ratios to reduce agglomeration issues while maintaining E. coli removal and filter longevity. The ability of the field filter to remove other target contaminants like total nitrogen, nitrate, total phosphorus, orthophosphate, and dissolved iron was also examined.

Laboratory Study

Laboratory batch and column experiments were conducted to evaluate the E. coli removal capabilities of new and aged steel chips and steel slag under controlled conditions. The results of the adsorption kinetics experiments showed that steel chips removed more than 99% of E. coli after a 24-hour adsorption time, while steel slag removed between 46% and 73%. New steel ships showed faster adsorption kinetics than aged steel chips. However, aged slag exhibited better E. coli removal efficiencies than new steel slag. The high E. coli removal observed for aged slag can be attributed to the surface iron coating due to the interaction with steel chips. Similar results were also observed during the continuous flow column experiments. Steel chip column reactors removed an average of 83% and 45% of E. coli for aged and new material, respectively. Steel slag column experiments were also performed to evaluate the impact of varying ratios of steel slag to chips on E. coli removal. The results showed that ratios of 5%, 10%, 20%, and 50% steel chips removed an average of 35%, 50%, 57% and 62% of E. coli, respectively.

Field Scale Study

After the laboratory batch studies, field filtration studies were performed to determine the removal efficiencies of E. coli and other contaminants from stormwater. The field filtration studies were conducted using an existing steel byproduct filter installed at a residential stormwater detention pond in the City of Brookings. Filter influent and effluent samples were collected from this field filter in 2019, 2020, and 2021 to examine its effect on E. coli, phosphorus, orthophosphate, nitrogen, nitrate, and iron. In 2019 and 2020, the field filter was composed of 50% steel slag and 50% steel chips; this ratio was modified to 70% steel slag and 30% steel chips in 2021. In 2019, the field filter removed an average of 53%, 48%, and 49% of E. coli, total phosphorus, and orthophosphate respectively. In 2020, the field filter removed an average of 54%, 54%, 45%, 45%, and 8% of E. coli, total phosphorus, orthophosphate, total nitrogen, and nitrate, respectively. In 2021, the field filter removed an average of 30%, 41%, 58%, 39%, and 8% of E. coli, total phosphorus, orthophosphate, respectively. The 2019 and 2020 field filters released an average of 0.27 mg/L of dissolved iron into the effluent while the 2021 filter released an average of 0.02 mg/L. All dissolved iron effluent concentrations during the field scale study were below the EPA's recommended limit in recreational water.

Recommendations

The results of the lab and field studies demonstrate that recycled steel byproducts are effective filter materials for E. coli removal. The steel byproduct filter is also capable of removing phosphate from stormwater. Steel chips showed higher E. coli removal capacity than steel slag. The ratio of steel chips to steel slag is a critical factor determining E. coli removal efficiencies. Higher ratios of steel chips in the steel byproduct filter resulted in higher E. coli removal. However, more quantities of steel chips in the filter may cause material agglomeration during filter operations. Therefore, the steel chips to steel slag ratio should be carefully selected to minimize the material agglomeration while maintaining effective E. coli removal. The field filter operation experience from this study indicates that substantial material agglomeration occurred when the steel chips ratios exceeded 50%. When the steel chips ratio was adjusted to 30%, the material agglomeration issue was significantly improved. Therefore, we recommend that the steel chips to steel slag ratios should be performed to determine the optimum steel chips to steel slag ratios for stormwater treatment.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Stormwater Pollution

1.1.1 Stormwater Pollution Sources

Pollution has become increasingly problematic as global populations and industrialization continue to rise. Contamination of natural water systems has been a concern for many years and countries have addressed this by enacting pollution laws. The United States first passed the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1948 to address water pollution. Over time, these measures were determined insufficient, so Congress passed the Clean Water Act (CWA) in 1972 (EPA, 1972). The CWA established pollutant discharge limits and permits, more strictly regulated industrial wastewater, and funded efforts to promote cleaner water systems in the United States. Over time, the CWA heavily reduced contamination levels in many water systems by monitoring the pollution sources. However, unregulated sources of pollution still often contaminate water systems.

Nonpoint source pollution (NPSP) is a major source of pollution in stormwater; nonpoint meaning it does not originate from a single distinguishable source. It is difficult to track and control NPSP because it comes from a seemingly infinite number of sources. All unregulated activities like fertilization, improperly managed land use, pet walking, small chemical spills, and others contribute to NPSP. These activities contribute to NPSP by combining with runoff generated during storm events. Stormwater runoff occurs when precipitation events cause an excess amount of water to flow over surfaces. This is caused by large rain events or periods with high snowmelt. When water flows over surfaces it often picks up pollutants and contaminants, which can pose a threat to water systems. Section 319 of the 1987 CWA amendments tries to address NPSP by providing annual funding for states to reduce contamination levels in their water systems (EPA, 1987).

The agricultural industry is often viewed as a large contributor of nonpoint source pollution. In 2012 in the United States, there was 915 million acres of farmland, encompassing 40% of the continental U.S. (USDA 2014). This area is used for many different practices, but the majority is for livestock and crops. Modern farming practices are reliant on a variety of nutrients, pesticides, and other chemicals to achieve desired crop and livestock yields. When rainfall occurs, stormwater is washed over farms, bringing nutrients, bacteria, metals, pesticides, herbicides, and other contaminants into bodies of water. Studies have found that as runoff intensity increases, contaminant concentrations also increase (Thurston-Enriquez et al., 2005; Lui et al., 2014; Yao et al., 2021). Contaminants are difficult to trace, and therefore hard to regulate. Urbanization has also led to an increase in the amount of nonpoint source pollution found in water supplies. As of 2018, 55% of the world's population lives in urban areas, and this is expected to grow to 68% by 2050 (United Nations, 2018). Urbanization leads to a higher total area of impervious surfaces like streets, parking lots, buildings, and sidewalks. These surfaces do not allow the runoff to soak into the ground, which creates higher volumes of runoff water. Runoff from urban areas often carries a variety of pollutants that are detrimental to ecosystems. The increased runoff volumes can overwhelm natural water systems and lead to a steep decline in their quality. A study conducted on the lakes of Bengaluru, India, in 2021 directly correlated a decline in water quality with heavy urbanization of the city. It found very poor water quality in the urban watersheds nearest to the city of Bengaluru (Birawat et al., 2021). This study is indicative of potential water quality issues as large cities grow.

1.1.2 Stormwater Composition and Contaminants

The composition of stormwater runoff is dependent on several factors, including the rain event specifics, how the area is used, and what systems are in place to manage it. Stormwater composition therefore varies around the world, but some constituents are common. Pollutants often found in stormwater systems include nutrients, suspended solids, microorganisms, and contaminants of emerging concern (CECs). Excess nutrients like nitrogen and phosphorus are common in water systems near areas with large fertilizer use. Their abundance promotes the growth of plants and algae, which can be detrimental to ecosystems. Nutrients discharged into water systems have been a major concern worldwide since the 1970s, after an increase in fertilizer use followed rapid urbanization and industrialization after World War II (Bonsdorff, 2021). During this time, scientists found that the increased plant and algae growth leads to eutrophication, the process of which removes oxygen from the water and kills large populations of wildlife. Eutrophication can ultimately lead to dead zones in water systems in which no organisms reliant on oxygen can survive.

Suspended solids are commonly transported through the physical erosion of soils during storm events. As rain falls and runs off impermeable surfaces it often picks up sediment and fine particles that are brought into stormwater runoff. In small amounts, these are harmless to ecosystems, but large quantities of particles can affect plants and wildlife. Increased suspended solids may deposit in sensitive ecosystems, blocking out sunlight or creating sediment buildups. Reduced levels of sunlight and sediment buildup can damage ecosystems by changing the natural balance of organisms.

Microorganisms are common in the natural environment and are important to maintain the balance of ecosystems. While many are harmless, some microorganisms are pathogenic. Pathogens may cause serious harm to human and animal health depending on the type and their abundance. Common health risks associated with contaminated water may include diarrhea, fever, vomiting, and intestinal pain. Highly contaminated waters may have more serious health complications such as organ failure or death. Animal or human waste collected by the runoff during storm events often increases the risk of pathogens in water supplies. Faults in wastewater infrastructure like worn or improperly placed wastewater lines can also contribute to this risk. Stormwater often recharges aquifers, and microorganisms in stormwater could negatively impact groundwater quality. A 2021 study found five of 12 microbial targets of concern detected more than once at multiple sampling points in a water table 30 feet below ground (De Lambert et al., 2021). This study shows the impact of human activities on groundwater, as groundwater sources traditionally have little to no microorganism populations.

Contaminants of emerging concern (CEC) have been a relatively recent area of study. As new chemicals are created, new chemical pollutants also develop. Advancements in pharmaceuticals, personal care products, industrial products, and other chemicals have led to an increase in the number of CECs in stormwater. A study in Minneapolis, Minnesota, examined the abundance of CECs in stormwater, investigating 384 known CECs. It found that 123 CECs were present in 36 stormwater samples at nine sampling sites (Fairbairn et al., 2018). Contaminated stormwater often reaches surface and groundwater sources. Studies show that large concentrations of CECs that pose a risk to environmental health have been found in surface waters across the United States. These include chemicals like polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, pesticides, tire wear particles, and pharmaceuticals (Masoner et al., 2019; Saifur and Gardner, 2021). Groundwater supplies recharged by runoff are impacted less by CECs as they often have fine soils protecting them. However, trace concentrations of CECs can still be found in wells and drinking water supplies. CECs pose significant threats to the environment and human health because many of their effects have not been formally studied. Some may pose short-term health risks and may be relatively harmless, while others may have detrimental long-term health effects.

1.1.3 Stormwater Management Practices

To manage stormwater and protect ecosystems from sudden contaminant influxes, there are several stormwater management practices (SMP) frequently used. The most common are detention and retention ponds. Both are designed to hold runoff from precipitation events to prevent sudden flooding or pollution in natural water systems. The key difference between them is that detention ponds are designed to hold water for short periods and reintroduce it into nearby water systems, whereas retention ponds hold the water indefinitely. These practices are important because they reduce the amount of nonpoint source pollution in natural water systems. Detention ponds gradually introduce runoff into lakes, rivers, streams, or aquifers so that changes in water quality are less drastic. Large sudden changes in contaminant levels like nutrients, microorganisms, suspended solids, or toxins would have a negative impact on wildlife. Retention ponds do not reintroduce runoff into natural systems through a direct outlet but often self-treat the water over time due to large microorganism communities existing within them. A specific type of retention pond—a bioretention pond-is also frequently used. These operate similarly to normal retention ponds but have vegetated areas that help stormwater treatment.

Wetlands are another common SMP. Natural and constructed wetlands use a variety of plants, animals, and other organisms to control the quality of stormwater introduced to them. Wetlands can remove contaminants through sedimentation, adsorption and retention, biological degradation, and plant uptake. After flowing through the wetland, water is often discharged into infiltration basins. In these basins, the water continues being treated as it flows through layers of permeable soils to eventually reach the water table.

1.2 E. Coli Occurrence and Treatment Technologies

1.2.1 E. Coli Occurrence

Escherichia coli (E. coli) refers to a group of bacteria common in animal intestines and many places in the environment. E. coli is commonly used to indicate potential health risks with bodies of water used for human purposes. E. coli is often used as an indicator organism to quantify the microbial safety of natural water resources. To limit pollutants and substances of concern in water systems, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) passed the Clean Water Act (CWA). In addition to this document the EPA published "Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Bacteria," which recommended levels of E. coli between 100 and 126 CFU per 100 mL in fresh recreational waters. Table 1.1 presents the EPA recreational water recommendations for E. coli.

Table 1.1 U.S. EPA recreational water recommendations					
Criteria Elements	Recommendation 1 Estimated Illness Rate 36/1,000		Recommendation 2 Estimated Illness Rate 32/1,000		
Indicator	Geometric mean (cfu/100 mL)	Statistical threshold value (cfu/100 mL)	Geometric mean (cfu/100 mL)	Statistical threshold value (cfu/100 mL)	
Enterococci (marine/fresh)	35	130	30	110	
E. coli (fresh)	126	410	100	320	

Contaminated food and water sources are common causes of E. coli outbreaks. Water sources are often contaminated when exposed to high concentrations of fecal matter. This can come from a variety of sources like polluted wastewater, stormwater, or agricultural runoff. The polluted water finds pathways into rivers, lakes, streams, ponds, and groundwater supplies where it is detrimental to water quality. A 2017 study done on the impact of combined sewer overflow examined this. The study found that as a wastewater plant discharged 4.3% of its untreated wastewater into the local river, E. coli concentrations increased from 3.5x100 MPN/100mL to 2.8x1000 MPN/100mL (Mascher et al., 2021). A different study on a wastewater treatment plant examined the effect of treatment lagoons on the local groundwater wells. It was found that E. coli and total coliforms exceeded drinking water limits in most wells (Barakat et al., 2019). Both studies highlight how contaminated water can negatively impact clean sources of water.

Raw foods like salads and undercooked meats are also common causes of E. coli outbreaks. Vegetables like lettuce and other leafy greens are often contaminated with E. coli after exposure to runoff or irrigation with fecal contamination. Leafy greens have been connected to E. coli outbreaks in many instances and have been well documented. A 1996 study highlighted the E. coli problem in the food service industry by examining vegetables and salads. Approximately 14% of the tested vegetable salads contained partially pathogenic bacteria (Lin et al., 1996). Meat and poultry are typically cross contaminated by liquid from other meats infected by E. coli. A 2018 study examined how faulty meat packaging impacted the E. coli found on different surfaces. The results showed that more than 60% of poultry packages had meat juice on them, the majority contaminated with E. coli (Chen et al., 2018). To reduce the risk of E. coli infection from foods, proper washing and cooking is recommended.

Commonly perceived as dangerous to human health, many strains of E. coli are harmless. However, some strains are pathogenic. There are several strains of E. coli that may have adverse effects on human health such as E. coli O157:H7. Common side effects include nausea, stomach problems, or diarrhea. Severe side effects are less common but at-risk populations such as children and the elderly can develop kidney failure that may lead to death (Poolman, 2017; Mayo, 2020; CDC, 2020; WHO, 2021).

E. coli can typically be treated with antibiotics at health centers. However, this practice has led to long-term issues. Widespread use of antibiotics to treat E. coli cases has led to many strains becoming resistant. This leads to concern over how to effectively treat and inactivate E. coli in the future. Studies have found high percentages of antibiotic-resistant E. coli strains in supermarket foods, wastewater treatment plants, hospitals, and the environment (Korzeniewska et al., 2013; Rasheed et al., 2014; Olorunmola et al., 2013). The studies showed that antibiotic-resistant E. coli strains are increasing, which may pose future risks to the public.

1.2.2 Conventional Treatment for E. Coli

(1) Disinfection

Chlorination is widely used to remove pathogens like E. coli from water and wastewater systems. It can be administered as chlorine gas, hypochlorite, or other solid and liquid forms. By oxidizing cellular material, chlorine inactivates dangerous microorganisms in water supplies. Currently, chlorine is one of the most cost-effective disinfection techniques. Relatively inexpensive and easy to transport, many facilities find it suitable for treatment. Chlorine also provides residual treatment in water systems, prolonging disinfection after leaving the treatment facility. A key disadvantage of treatment is the formation of disinfection byproducts (DBPs). DBPs are formed from chlorine reacting with natural organic matter (NOM) and other compounds of interest like bromide and iodide. Studies have shown that DBPs can pose serious risks to human health. Some classes of DPBs are regulated, such as trihalomethanes (THM) and haloacetic acids (HAA). Other classes exist but are unregulated due to a lack of information on health impacts and their small quantities. Some DPBs have been associated with increased risks of different cancer types in humans.

Chlorine itself is toxic to many aquatic organisms even at low concentrations and therefore cannot be discharged into natural water systems.

Ultraviolet (UV) light is another common disinfection technique, with comparable disinfection effectiveness as chlorine. UV radiation emitted by mercury arc lamps damages organisms by penetrating the cell wall, disabling the ability to reproduce. Disinfection effectiveness is dependent on characteristics of the water being treated. Water with high levels of suspended solids (SS) or turbidity may lead to lower reduction in organisms being targeted. This treatment is a physical process rather than chemical, so handling and storage of toxic chemicals like chlorine is eliminated. This also eliminates DBP formation, but UV light is unable to provide residual disinfection in distribution systems.

Ozone naturally exists in the Earth's atmosphere but can be difficult to produce due to it being an unstable gas. It acts as a strong oxidant in water and wastewater treatment and is effective in destroying viruses and bacteria. When treated with ozone, direct oxidation of the organism's cell wall occurs, which effectively destroys them. Ozone is less common in treatment facilities due to its relatively high operational costs. Technology associated with ozone can be complex, and ozone must be created on site due to its instability. Operation of ozone equipment is energy and maintenance intensive. Therefore, many facilities opt for traditional chlorination or UV light for disinfection processes.

(2) Retention Ponds

Traditionally viewed as a "low tech" treatment option, retention ponds have consistently proved effective in removing high percentages of bacteria. The efficiency of bacteria inactivation is closely tied to many factors including, but not limited to, temperature, pond depth, environmental conditions, dissolved oxygen, turbidity, and pH. General removal of coliforms in retention ponds often exceeds 90% when designed properly (Struck et al., 2006).

While many factors impact the overall removal, the driving mechanism is considered to be sunlightmediated disinfection (Passos, Dias, and Sperling, 2020). This process is similar to that used in UV treatment but does not require energy or costs to operate. With sunlight as the disinfectant, turbidity negatively affects removal by limiting light penetration. This limits the removal in stormwater, as influent runoff often contains high concentrations of natural organic matter. Retention ponds only release water through evaporation and infiltration, therefore have an infinite detention time. Therefore, retention ponds are limited in their capacity and may overflow during large storm events.

(3) Detention Ponds

Detention ponds are like retention ponds in that they use the same mechanisms to treat introduced water. However, detention ponds have limited hydraulic detention time. The water released from detention ponds may have slightly higher quality than the influent, but treatment is limited compared with retention ponds. Rather, detention ponds are designed to limit the sudden quantity of stormwater entering receiving waters. Despite minor treatment of the water being received, detention ponds serve to reduce sudden pollution and flooding from stormwater into water systems.

(4) Wetlands

Wetlands refer to a distinct ecosystem that is characterized by saturated land, seasonally or year-round. They are often categorized by type, including marshes, swamps, bogs, or fens (EPA, 1990). Constructed wetlands are artificially designed to replicate these ecosystems. It is difficult to determine the exact efficiency of wetlands in removing bacteria due to their complexity and biodiversity. For example, a two-year pilot-scale study using a horizontal flow constructed wetland removed 3.44–3.74 log units of E. coli from the primary effluent of a wastewater system (Zurita and Carreon-Alvarez, 2015). Many studies have

found similarly high removal rates, exceeding 90% removal of E. coli (Karim, Glenn, and Gerba, 2008; De Amorim et al., 2019; Abunaser and Arwa, 2020). However, some wetland studies have indicated significantly lower E. coli removal potential. One such study reported only a 6.7% E. coli removal rate (Lamori et al., 2019). The discrepancies between studies are likely due to varying wetland natures, with different plant, soil, and animal life existing in each.

1.2.3 Emerging Technologies for E. Coli

(1) Biofiltration

Biofiltration refers to using a bioreactor containing living organisms to remove pollutants from water. It is frequently used in water and wastewater treatment by employing microorganisms to remove target pollutants. Biofiltration is not limited to microorganisms and can be applied to larger organisms as well. Recent developments have been made using plant and aquatic life as effective E. coli removal tools in small scale studies. A 2018 study examining the biofiltration capabilities of Corbicula fluminea showed high removal capabilities for E. coli, heavy metals, and other common contaminants in stormwater. After 48 hours, there was zero E. coli detected using initial concentrations of 1,000 CFU/mL. The clams only contained 1% to 2% of the initial E. coli in their soft tissue, indicating bioprocessing as the main removal mechanism. E. coli removal increased exponentially with the number of clams in the stormwater (Gomes et al., 2018). Similar conclusions were found in a 2016 study using zebra mussels. After 24 hours, E. coli was completely removed from sample volumes (Mezzanottea et al., 2016).

Plant species have also shown potential in removing E. coli concentrations from water. A 2017 study tested the biofiltration capability of 17 native Australian species. Nine of these reduced E. coli populations and inhibited growth. Each plant also reduced nitrogen and other nutrient concentrations in the water (Shirdashtzadeh et al., 2017). These plants could work in tandem with specialized green wall materials to further reduce E. coli concentrations. Hydraulically slow media like coir, rockwool, and fyto-foam have shown up to 80% E. coli removal; fast media like perlite, vermiculite, growstone, expended clay, or river sand showed up to 20% (Prodanovic et al., 2017). Used properly, biofilters would be an ecologically friendly approach to reduce E. coli concentrations in stormwater.

(2) Biochar

Biochar is pyrolyzed biomass, a charcoal-like material produced from organic materials by decomposing them under high temperatures. Physically biochar has high porosity, surface area, and water holding capacity. Relatively inexpensive to produce, it is often added to soils or containers to increase adsorption capacity for targeted constituents. Recent studies have been performed examining its use in E. coli removal. In 2014, a study amended sand filters at 5% by weight with biochar and found this to increase the E. coli removal rate. Influent with high natural organic matter (NOM) concentrations introduced into the sand filter reduced the removal efficiency. But even with these reductions, the biochar amended filter still performed better than the sand filter alone (Mohanty et al., 2014). Biofilms form naturally during filtration processes, and these can enhance or impair the removal potential of the filter. Like the introduction of high NOM concentrations, biofilms often decrease the performance of biochar amended filters but still see higher removal than solely sand filtration (Mohanty et al., 2014; Afrooz and Boehm, 2016).

(3) Coated Sands

Slow sand filtration was one of the first technologies used to effectively remove pathogenic bacteria from surface water. Bacterial removal is highly dependent on the composition and grain size of the sand. Sand filters demonstrate a wide range of removal capabilities for various contaminants. Under many conditions sand filtration is highly effective in removing E. coli, even in the presence of other pollutants (Fernandez, 2019). Despite high removal potential, they are prone to fouling and clogging, which may diminish

adsorption capacity and require either backwash or filter replacement. To improve the bacteria removal potential of sand filters under a wider range of influent conditions, other media can be added. Iron coated sands have been examined as a potential addition to sand filters. Studies indicate that the addition of iron coated sands to traditional sand filters increases the removal of E. coli and other bacteria (Aal et al., 2009; Park et al., 2011; Marik et al., 2019; Kulkarni et al., 2020). This is likely due to the anti-microbial effects demonstrated by iron oxides and iron nanoparticles. The physical coating, disruption of cell membrane, and generation of reactive oxygen species from iron are thought to inactivate many pathogens with relatively short contact times (Diao and Yao, 2009; Li et al., 2018; Gabrielyan et al., 2019). Aside from the reasons mentioned above, iron coated sands are thought to remove E. coli due to their net positive charge. E. coli is a gram-negative bacterium and therefore attracted to the iron coated sands, which ensures their attachment in the filter.

(4) Steel Byproducts

Two common byproducts from steel production are steel chips and steel slag, both of which are easily obtained and inexpensive. The application of these materials in removing E. coli has been studied in recent years. The results from the research done on steel byproducts have shown that steel chips and steel slag have different E. coli removal potentials. In 2017, a batch scale adsorption study found steel chips to remove 94% of E. coli over two hours with original concentrations of 10⁴ MPN/ml. Under the same conditions, steel slag removed 28.5% (Hooshyari, 2017). High E. coli removal by the steel chips was also recorded during column studies performed in 2019. It was found that the largest size range of chips (4–9 mm in diameter) removed 60% of E. coli and the smallest (0.5–1 mm in diameter) removed nearly 100% at an initial concentrations of 10⁶ MPN/ml (Dai, 2019). However, these removal percentages decrease in the presence of higher concentrations of NOM and other contaminants. Therefore, actual removal percentages in stormwater are typically lower than those using pure water with E. coli (Hooshyari, 2017; Dai, 2019). In 2019, a pilot study using a field filter consisting of a combination of steel slag and steels chips examined the real stormwater removal by steel byproducts. It was found that the filter could consistently remove 50% of E. coli over several different runoff events (Neville, 2019). Overall, steel byproducts appear to be a promising low-cost medium that can remove E. coli from water.

1.3 Project Objectives

The main objective of this study was to provide a recommendation for future field application of steel byproducts in E. coli removal in stormwater. Previous studies showed that steel byproducts have potential in removing high percentages of E. coli from stormwater through lab scale and field scale testing. An evaluation of steel byproducts' long-term performance was required to recommend future applications of steel byproducts in E. coli removal in stormwater. To accomplish this, lab scale testing and field scale testing were done. For lab scale testing, batch and column studies were performed to examine the impact of aging and steel byproduct ratio on E. coli removal. Using this information, field scale testing was performed using varying steel byproduct ratios to reduce agglomeration issues while maintaining E. coli removal and filter longevity. The ability of the field filter to remove other target contaminants like total nitrogen, nitrate, total phosphorus, orthophosphate, and dissolved iron was also examined.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Lab studies of Steel Byproducts

2.1.1 Introduction

Laboratory batch and column studies were conducted to evaluate the E. coli removal efficiencies of steel chips and steel slag. This was done by examining the difference in performance between new and aged materials. Aged steel byproduct material was gathered from a previous field filter site after two years in use. The lab studies examined the removal potential of new and aged steel chips and steel slag that were 2–4 mm in diameter and 4–9 mm in diameter, respectively. Different E. coli levels were used to simulate bacterial concentrations in stormwater. The column studies were used to evaluate E. coli removal under continuous flow conditions.

2.1.2 E. Coli Preparation

Cultured E. coli was used to prepare solutions for lab studies. To grow E. coli, a container of 100 mL Luria broth base (LB, Thermo Fisher Scientific, 10 g/L peptone, 10 g/L sodium chloride, 5 g/L yeast extract) was made at 25 grams of broth per liter of water. The container was inoculated using concentrated E. coli from a frozen stock maintained in a -20°C freezer. A Thermo Scientific MaxQ 4000 benchtop orbital shaker was set at 37°C for 24 hours at 150 rpm with the 100 mL container inside. During culturing, a 1L buffer solution was made using 1.0 mM NaHCO₃ (0.84 g/L), 0.1 mM KCL (0.7455 g/L) and 1.2 mM H₂SO₄ (0.49 g/L).

The cultured E. coli was then evenly separated into three 50 mL centrifuge containers and rotated at 4,000 rpm at 20°C for 10 minutes. The containers were then removed, and the liquid phase was discarded. Each was refilled with 30 mL of buffer solution and the E. coli was re-suspended in the buffer solution. The centrifuge containers were then reinserted into the centrifuge and this process was repeated a total of three times to clean the culture solutions. After the third time, E. coli in each container was resuspended with the buffer solution and poured into a 100 mL glass flask. To estimate the approximate number of E. coli cells per mL, a Hach DR/4000 spectrophotometer was used. The measured E. coli concentrations using this process fell within a range of $1.0-1.6 \times 10^9$ cells/mL on the spectrophotometer. The 100 mL container of E. coli stock was stored at room temperature for up to five days.

2.1.3 Laboratory Materials

The steel byproducts used in the experiment were obtained from steel manufacturing and recycling facilities. The steel slag was collected from waste material provided by Nucor Steel in Norfolk, NE. The slag was the byproduct of blast furnaces melting scrap metal and fluxes to create steel. The steel chips were collected from Alter Metal Recycling in Marshall, MN. They are exclusively carbon steel chips and are a byproduct of physical processes like machining, grinding, and milling of finished steel products at various plants.

Steel slag and steel chips were grouped into different size ranges and physical conditions. These included 2– 4 mm new, 2–4 mm aged, 4–9 mm new, and 4–9 mm aged. Figure 2.1 and Figure 2.2 show the new and aged steel byproducts after sorting them according to their size and material, respectively. To group the new materials into the proper size range, sieves were used. Raw materials were sieved into 0.5–1 mm, 1–2 mm, 2–4 mm, and 4–9 mm groups; the 0.5–1 mm and 1–2 mm groups were discarded. This was done for the new steel chips and new steel slag separately. Once separated, the new steel chips were then cleaned to remove excess oils and chemicals used in the manufacturing process. They were rinsed with nanopure water and washed in a phosphorus-free soap bath for 24 hours. After 24 hours, they were again rinsed with nanopure water and left out to dry for 24 hours. The new steel slag was rinsed with nanopure water and dried for 24 hours to remove attached fine particles.

Aged materials were gathered from an existing field filter created by SDSU after two years in use. The existing filter was a mixture of 50% steel slag and 50% steel chips. Approximately 10 gallons of material were removed from the filter. Sieves were used to separate the mixed materials into different size groups. After sieving the materials, chips and slag were separated by hand by examining the physical properties of each piece. All materials were then rinsed thoroughly with nanopure water to remove dirt and other particles loosely attached to their surfaces.



Figure 2.1 New and aged steel slag materials (top: 2–4 mm new, 2–4 mm aged; bottom: 4–9 mm aged, 4–9 mm new)



Figure 2.2 New and aged steel chip materials (top: 2–4 mm new, 2–4 mm aged; bottom: 4–9 mm aged, 4–9 mm new)

2.1.4 Batch Studies

One gram of each of the eight tested materials was placed in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks. Flasks containing steel slag were given initial E. coli concentrations of 10⁴ MPN/mL by diluting the prepared E. coli stock. Those containing steel chips were given a concentration of 10⁷ MPN/mL. Two blanks were prepared containing no material but given concentrations of 10⁴ MPN/mL and 10⁷ MPN/mL. All flasks were filled with 100 mL of E. coli-spiked nanopure water. After flask preparation, each was placed on a Thermo ScientificTM MaxQTM 4000 benchtop orbital shaker set to 20°C at 100 rpm for 24 hours. This setup can be seen in Figure 2.3. One mL of the sample was taken from each of the 10 flasks at times of one-half hour, one hour, two hours, three hours, 12 hours, and 24 hours to determine E. coli concentrations using the IDEXX method outlined in Section 2.3 Analytical Methods.



Figure 2.3 Benchtop orbital shaker used for batch studies

2.1.5 Column Studies

E. coli removal capabilities of steel byproducts were examined by pumping water containing fixed E. coli concentrations through columns with packed material. The experiments were conducted using Omnifit fixed-bed glass columns with a 15 cm height and 1.5 cm inner diameter. Three column experiments were performed: exclusively steel slag, exclusively steel chips, and a mixture of both. To pack the materials, approximately 1 cm of height was added and then the side of the column was gently tapped to settle them. This was done to prevent any breaking of the material through normal compaction efforts, as this would reduce the material size. Tables 2.1 through 2.3 show the characteristics of steel slag and steel chips used for the column studies.

Table 2.1 Characteristics of steel slag in the column study					
Material	Size	Porosity (%)	Packing density (g/cm ³)	Particle density (g/cm ³)	
Aged	2–4mm	0.47	1.74	3.29	
	4–9mm	0.51	1.56	3.17	
New	2–4mm	0.49	1.50	2.95	
	4–9mm	0.52	1.32	2.76	

Material	Size	Porosity (%)	Packing density (g/cm ³)	Particle density (g/cm ³)
Aged	2–4mm	0.69	1.10	3.51
	4–9mm	0.70	1.00	3.32
New	2–4mm	0.70	1.48	4.97
	4–9mm	0.78	1.04	4.64

Table 2.2 Characteristics of steel chips in the column study

 Table 2.3 Characteristics of the steel byproducts mixture in the column study

Material	Steel chip percentage (%)	Porosity (%)	Packing density (g/cm ³)	Particle density (g/cm ³)
Aged	5	0.49	1.73	3.38
	10	0.51	1.67	3.42
New	20	0.54	1.60	3.46
	50	0.58	1.56	3.71

All column experiments used a flow rate of 1.18 mL/min to achieve an empty bed contact time (EBCT) of 15 minutes. The EBCT is the ratio of bed volume to flow rate as shown:

$$EBCT = \frac{Bed Volume (mL)}{Flow Q (\frac{mL}{\min})}$$

Two Masterflex L/S peristaltic pumps were used to achieve \pm .02 mL/min of the desired flow rate. To check the actual flow rate in the pumps, quantities of water from each were weighed after 10 minutes of flow to determine the actual mL/min rate. Based on this, flow rates were then adjusted by tightening or loosening the tubing.

A five-gallon glass container was used to prepare the influent for column studies. The container was filled with 18 liters of nanopure water and then made into a buffer solution using 1.0 mM NaHCO₃ (0.84g/L), 0.1 mM KCL (0.7455 g/L) and 1.2 mM H₂SO₄ (0.49 g/L). E. coli stock was added until the desired concentration was achieved after the buffer chemicals were added. To sample the influent and effluent of the reactors, 20 mL was taken in small glass vials starting at each sampling period. Influent was poured directly from the influent container and effluent was taken from the ends of the plastic tubing after the columns. Figure 2.4 shows how the column experiment was set up for each of the column studies performed.



Figure 2.4 Reactor setup for column experiments

2.2 Field Stormwater Filtration Studies

2.2.1 Filter Materials

Two types of steel byproducts were used: steel chips and steel slag. Both are a result of the steel manufacturing process in steel mills or manufacturing shops. Slag refers to the leftover impurities from the molten steel in the melting process. The composition of the slag is dependent on the type of steel being manufactured but typically consists of carbon, silicon, manganese, phosphorus, iron, lime, and dolomite. The steel slag was obtained from Nucor Steel in Norfolk, NE. Chips refer to the excess material from steel manufacturing, formed from physical processes like cutting and shaping steel into finished products. The steels chips were obtained from Alter Metal Recycling in Marshall, MN, and came from carbon steel.

2.2.2 2018-2020 Field Study

The field filter was installed for a previous study in 2018 (Neville, 2018). It is in a residential area near Camelot Intermediate School in Brookings, SD, at the intersection of Camelot and Breckenridge Drive. Figure 2.5 shows the installed field stormwater filter. The dimensions were designed to be 5-feet wide, 6-feet long, and 8 inches in height. These were chosen to fit the retention pond inlet. A wider view of the stormwater detention pond for the field filter can be seen in Figure 2.6. The base structure was created by Bend-Rite Custom Fabrication Inc and was made of A36 ¼-inch mild steel. Originally, the filter contained 25% large steel slag (4–9 mm), 12.5% small steel slag (2–4 mm), 50% large steel chips (4–9 mm), and 12.5% small steel chips (2–4 mm). While operating the filter, it was observed that the steel chips gradually agglomerated due to rusting and formed large chunks of rusted materials over time, which affected the filter's hydraulic properties (Figure 2.7). It was necessary to break down the agglomerated materials monthly to maintain the filter's performance.



Figure 2.5 Field stormwater filter site location



Figure 2.6 Stormwater detention pond for the stormwater filtration study



Figure 2.7 Filter material agglomeration observed during the field study

To address the agglomeration issues and test different filter material ratios, the field filters were changed to 50% steel chips and 50% steel slag in 2019 and 2020. All existing material was removed from the 2018 field filter and solely new material was added in 2019. The 2020 field filter continued to use the same materials from the 2019 field filter, and no materials were taken or added during this time frame. During rain events, water samples were collected using clean 1 L plastic bottles for both the influent and effluent. Influent samples were collected a foot above the filter in the pond inlet just below the surface level of the stormwater. Effluent samples were collected in the center of the backend of the filter by holding the plastic bottle flush to the flow holes. In total, four rain events with at least five sampling points were collected during the late spring to early fall months for each of the two filter years. Key water quality parameters tested include E. coli, total phosphorus, orthophosphate, nitrogen, nitrate, and dissolved iron.

2.2.3 2021 Field Study

To evaluate the removal potential of aged materials used in the field filter and to reduce filter agglomeration, small quantities of filter materials were taken in August of 2020 to perform lab studies. Based on the result of the lab studies, the new ratios for the field filter were chosen to be 30% steel chips and 70% steel slag for the 2021 field study. A higher ratio of slag to chips was desired to counteract the agglomeration observed in previous studies. To create the new filter, all aged materials were removed from the original filter using pickaxes and shovels. New slag and steel chips were added to the filter to reduce the existing steel chips to slag ratio. The filters materials were added in layers and then mixed in the filter to achieve the desired ratio. Figures 2.8, 2.9, and 2.10 show the different steps of the filter redesign in May 2021. Water samples were taken in the same manner as done in 2019 and 2020. The different water quality parameters examined were also the same, including E. coli, total phosphorus, orthophosphate, total nitrogen,

nitrate, and dissolved iron. Duplicates for samples were done for the first and last samples of each storm event to ensure accurate testing methodology. All duplicates were within 15% of initial results.



Figure 2.8 Removal of aged materials from the field filter



Figure 2.9 Adjustment of steel byproduct ratio in field filter



Figure 2.10 Pilot scale steel byproduct filter after ratio adjustment

Four stormwater events were sampled for the 2021 field filtration study. The characteristics of the four events are shown in Table 2.4.

	5/25/2021	7/10/2021	7/11/2021	7/25/2021
Start Time	8:30 PM	9:00 AM	11:00 AM	10:45 PM
End Time	9:30 PM	11:15 AM	12:30 PM	12:00 PM
Temperature (°F)	62	64	65	74
Total Rainfall (in)	0.8	1.7	1.2	0.6
Sampling Interval (min)	10	10	15	10

Table 2.4 Characteristics of stormwater events for 2021 field study

2.3 Analytical Methods

2.3.1 E. Coli Analysis

Accurate E. coli concentrations were determined using the Coliert 18 method, giving MPN (most probable number)/mL. Samples being tested were diluted enough to fall within an expected range of 100 to 2,000 MPN/100 mL. The dilutions were then added to 100 mL containers provided by IDEXX and one packet of Colilert reagent was added to each. Containers were then capped and rotated until the Colilert reagent had dissolved in the diluted sample. All contents were then added to a Quanti-Tray 2000 and sealed using an IDEXX Quanti-Tray sealer. Any prepared Quanti-Trays were placed in an oven at 35±0.5°C for 24 hours. Trays were read out using blacklight in a dark room and using calculation instructions provided by IDEXX.

2.3.2 Other Water Quality Parameters

Five water quality parameters were tested to examine the quality of influent and effluent stormwater from the field filter. Dissolved iron, total phosphorus, nitrate, orthophosphate, and total nitrogen were measured using Hach Company colorimetric methods. This was done using a DR/4000U spectrometer manufactured by Hach Company. A 0.45 um filter was used to filter stormwater samples prior to measuring each of the five water parameters. Filtration removed constituents in the water that could interfere with the colorimetric results. Dissolved iron was measured using the FerroVer® method (Hach 2014). Total phosphorus was measured using the PhosVer®3 with the persulfate acid digestion method (Hach 2017). Nitrate was measured using the cadmium reduction method (Hach 2014). Orthophosphate was measured using the PhosVer3® (ascorbic acid) method (Hach 2017). Total nitrogen was measured using the persulfate digestion method (Hach 2014).

2.3.3 Cleaning and Sterilization

All materials used to prepare E. coli stock were cleaned using an autoclave. All used glassware was submerged in a mixture of 1/3 phosphate free soap and 2/3 nanopure water bath for 24 hours. Glassware was removed and rinsed with reverse osmosis water, resubmerged in a 25% sulfuric acid bath for an additional 24 hours, later rinsed with 18M Ω nanopure water, and set out to dry. Plastic containers did not receive an acid bath and were instead rinsed with 18M Ω nanopure water after the soap bath and dried.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Batch Study of E. Coli Removal Kinetics

The results from the batch study are shown in Figures 3.1 and 3.2. Duplicate samples were taken for influent and effluent samples. The duplicate sample results are generally within 15% variations. The steel chips removed higher percentages of E. coli with an influent concentration several orders higher than that of the steel slag. New steel chips (2–4 mm and 4–9 mm) achieved 100% removal of the initial E. coli after 24 hours. At the same time, both sizes of aged chips removed 99% of E. coli. As shown in Figure 3.1, the new chips reached a high removal percentage more rapidly, both reaching 99% removal within three hours. This is due to the rapid oxidation of the new chips. Figure 3.3 presents the Erlenmeyer flasks containing different materials. The solutions with new chips turn a brown and orange color. This suggests that new steel chips reacted with dissolved oxygen and produced iron oxides through rusting. The produced iron oxides effectively removed E. coli. Studies examining the bactericidal properties of ferric oxide nanoparticles have concluded that they are able to deactivate many strains of bacteria, including E. coli (Li et al., 2018; Gabrielyan et al., 2019; Diao and Yao, 2009). The aged steel chips also removed high percentages of the E. Coli through adsorption. The negatively charged E. coli attached themselves to the positively charged surface of the steel chips where they were effectively removed.

The slag removed lower percentages of E. coli at an influent concentration of approximately 10^4 MPN/ml. The 2–4 mm aged, 4–9 mm aged, 2–4 mm new, and 4–9 mm new slags removed 73.2%, 71.6%, 58.7%, and 46.3%, respectively. The result for the steel slag batch study is shown in Figure 3.2. Unlike the steel chips, the aged material performed better than the new material. This can be attributed to the interaction of ferric oxides with E. coli. The aged material has ferric oxide attached to its surface, likely from interaction with the steel chips during the time in the field filter. The new steel slag does not oxidize over the 24-hour period, limiting its removal mechanism to solely adsorption.



Figure 3.1 Steel chips batch study results



Figure 3.2 Steel slag batch study results



Figure 3.3 Erlenmeyer flasks with 1 gram of material after 24-hour adsorption time (from left to right 2–4 mm new chips, 4–9 mm new chips, 2–4 mm old chips, 4–9 mm old chips).

3.2 E. Coli Removal by Steel Chips Column

New steel chips removed a higher percentage of E. coli than the aged steel chips during the column study. As presented in Figure 3.4, the 2–4 mm new, 4-9 mm new, 2–4 mm old, and 4–9 mm old chips removed an average of 80%, 50%, 30%, and 10% of E. coli, respectively. Higher removals were observed during the first two days, and the removal efficiencies stabilized after two days. With increasing media size, removal rates decreased for both the old and new chips. Smaller particles have larger surface areas for the volume they occupy, which results in both greater adsorption capacity and oxidation potential. Similar studies found that small chips (1–2 mm diameter) can removal more than 90% of E. coli (Initial E. coli concentration = 1.0×10^4 MPN/mL; EBCT=10 min) (Hooshyari, 2017), and that 2–4 mm and 4–8 mm steel chips remove

70% and 60% of initial E. coli concentrations (Initial E. coli concentration = 1.0×10^6 MPN/mL; EBCT=10 min) (Dai, 2019).

Adsorption and oxidation are likely the two processes that remove E. coli from influent water in this study. Adsorption is the physical process that occurs when the E. coli attaches to the surface of the steel chips. The negatively charged E. coli are attracted by the positively charged iron in the steel chips, resulting in surface attachment. This is likely the major removal mechanism for the aged material as it has less material available to oxidize. The difference in removal potential between the new and aged chips is likely due to the rapid oxidation of the new chips forming large quantities of iron oxides.



Figure 3.4 E. coli removal by steel chips in column study. Experiment conditions: flow velocity= 1.18 mL/min, EBCT=15 minutes

3.3 E. Coli Removal by Steel Slag Column

The steel slag demonstrated the opposite of the findings for the steel chips in that the aged material performed better than the new. Figure 3.5 shows that the 2–4 mm new, 4–9 mm new, 2–4 mm old, and 4–9 mm old slags removed an average of 17%, 13%, 25%, and 21% of E. coli, respectively. Slag shows lower removal rates than that of chips, likely because slag has a lower iron content.

Previous studies have shown that adsorption is the major removal mechanism used by slag in removing E. coli (Hooshyari, 2017; Dai, 2019; Neville, 2019). The aged slag removes higher percentages of E. coli because it was coated with iron oxides through interactions with steel chips in field studies. As explained previously, iron oxide particles have demonstrated bactericidal properties and bacterial adsorption capability in previous studies. The column studies indicate that as slag ages with steel chips its E. coli removal capacity increases.



Figure 3.5 E. coli removal by steel slag in column study. Experiment conditions: flow velocity=1.18 mL/min, EBCT=15 minutes

3.4 Steel Slag and Steel Chip Ratios

Figure 3.6 shows the mixed materials prior to being placed in the columns to evaluate the impact of mixing ratios of steel chips and steel slag on E. coli removal. Figure 3.7 shows the E. coli removal of different mixtures of steel slag and chips in a column study. The 5%, 10%, 20%, and 50% steel chips removed an average of 35%, 49%, 57%, and 62% of E. coli over a span of eight days. The E. coli removal efficiencies increased with increasing steel chip ratios. This is consistent with the high E. coli removal potentials of steel chips observed in batch studies. Even low quantities of chips present in the mixture can significantly improve E. coli removal.

A lower ratio of chips to slag would help with filter agglomeration problems without significantly reducing performance. After wet and dry periods during the 2019 and 2020 field filtration studies, the media would form large masses, resulting in reduced flow rates through the filter. Filter remediation was effective but required regular filter maintenance. Overall, the results from the mixture column study showed that even low steel chip percentages present can improve E. coli removal. Therefore, the steel chip percentages can be adjusted to balance the filter performance and required maintenance in field applications.



Figure 3.6 The mixed materials prior to being placed in the columns



Figure 3.7 E. coli removal by steel slag and steel chip mixtures in column study. Experiment conditions: flow velocity=1.18 mL/min, EBCT=15 minutes

3.5 SEM analysis

The surface structure of the new and aged steel chips and slag were observed using scanning electron microscope (SEM) analysis. Figures 3.8, 3.9, and 3.10 show these SEM images at various settings. Each figure illustrates the difference between the new and aged materials. The steel chip's surface is originally smooth with few deformations but after two years in use in the field, the surface is rusted. The new slag shows large amounts of surface pores and cavities. After two years interaction with steel chips, the surface of slag is coated with iron oxides and becomes smoother with fewer surface pores.



Figure 3.8 SEM images of steel byproducts at 10 um. (Top left new chips, top right old chips, bottom left new slag, bottom right old slag)



Figure 3.9 SEM images of steel byproducts at 20 um. (Top left new chips, top right old chips, bottom left new slag, bottom right old slag)





3.6 Field Stormwater Filtration Studies Results

3.6.1 2019 Field Filtration Study

The 2019 field filter was designed with 50% steel slag and 50% steel chips. The field filter was able to remove, on average, 53% of E. coli. Figure 3.11 shows the influent and effluent E. coli concentrations from the 2019 storm events. Influent concentrations in the stormwater ranged from 1,101 MPN/100ml to 15,531 MPN/100ml. The results indicate that higher influent concentrations led to better removals than low concentrations. For example, storm event A removed an average of 74% of E. coli while storm event D removed an average of 39%. Storm event A had a significantly higher average of influent E. coli concentrations of 11,302 MPN/100mL; storm event D had an average of 4,644 MPN/100mL. While high influent concentrations experienced higher removal rates, their effluent concentrations were still larger than that of low influent concentrations. Similar trends and results were found on a 2018 pilot scale study on steel byproducts. The filter was comprised of 70% chips and 30% slag and removed, on average, 50% of E. coli (Neville, 2019).



Figure 3.11 E. coli removal in 2019 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 06/22/2019, (B) 07/20/2019, (C) 08/12/2021, (D) 08/31/2019

There was an average increase of 0.076 mg/L of dissolved iron in the effluent from the field filter. Figure 3.12 shows the influent and effluent concentrations of dissolved iron for the sampled storm events. The highest effluent concentration was 0.312 mg/L, which is well below the EPA recommendation of 1.0 mg/L for recreational water usage (EPA, 1986). This shows that the field filter did not release a significant amount of dissolved iron. Effluent concentrations using the field filter could therefore be safely discharged into recreational waters with no impact on public health or wildlife.



Figure 3.12 Iron concentrations in 2019 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 06/22/2019, (B) 07/20/2019, (C) 08/12/2021, (D) 08/31/2019

Figures 3.13 and 3.14 show the total phosphate and orthophoto removals of the field filter in 2019. The field filter removed 48% of total phosphates and 49% of orthophosphates from the influent stormwater. The influent total phosphate concentrations ranged from 0.36 to 3.65 mg/L, and influent orthophosphate concentrations ranged from 0.36 to 3.65 mg/L, and influent orthophosphate concentrations ranged from 0.36 to 3.65 mg/L. The steel byproduct filter demonstrated consistent removal efficiencies of total phosphate and orthophosphate despite large variations in influent concentrations at different storm events. These results show that steel chips and steel slag are efficient materials for phosphate removal from stormwater. Previous studies showed approximately 50%–75% phosphorus removal in full scale filters and as high as 99% in lab scale batch studies using steel slag (Lana et al., 2006; Bowden et al., 2009; Bratt and Shilton, 2010; Westholm, 2010).



Figure 3.13 Total phosphate removal in 2019 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 06/22/2019, (B) 07/20/2019, (C) 08/12/2021, (D) 08/31/2019



Figure 3.14 Orthophosphate removal in 2019 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 06/22/2019, (B) 07/20/2019, (C) 08/12/2021, (D) 08/31/2019

3.6.2 2020 Field Filtration Study

The field filter materials in the 2020 study were kept the same from 2019 to evaluate the performance of filter materials for two consecutive years. Figure 3.15 shows the E. coli removal in the 2020 field filtration study. The influent E. coli concentrations ranged from 325 MPN/100ml to 9,804 MPN/100ml. An average of 54% of E. coli was removed for the four storm events sampled in 2020. Like the trend seen in the 2019 data, influent samples containing higher E. coli concentrations typically led to high removal percentages. These results suggest that the filter materials maintained similar E. coli removal efficiencies in two consecutive years of filter operation.



Figure 3.15 E. coli removal in 2020 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 07/21/2020, (B) 08/09/2020, (C) 08/30/2020, (D) 09/07/2020

Figures 3.16 and 3.17 show the total phosphate and orthophoto removals of the field filter in 2020. Filter influent total phosphate concentrations ranged from 0.74 to 2.70 mg/L and influent orthophosphate concentrations ranged from 0.35 to 2.42 mg/L. The 2020 field filter removed 54% of total phosphorus and 45% of orthophosphates from the influent stormwater. Storm events with higher total phosphorus and orthophosphate influent concentrations led to greater removal than those with low concentrations. The July 21 event had the highest average removal of 58% for total phosphate, and all influent concentrations exceeded 2 mg/L. Like total phosphorus, the July 21 event had the highest removal of orthophosphate due to the highest influent concentration. Orthophosphates made up a significant portion of the total phosphates in 2020. This indicates that there was a large amount of reactive phosphorus present in the stormwater influent during the storm events.



Figure 3.16 Total phosphate removal in 2020 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 07/21/2020, (B) 08/09/2020, (C) 08/30/2020, (D) 09/07/2020



Figure 3.17 Orthophosphate removal in 2020 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 07/21/2020, (B) 08/09/2020, (C) 08/30/2020, (D) 09/07/2020

Figure 3.18 shows the influent and effluent concentrations of dissolved iron for the sampled storm events in 2020. As expected, there was an increase in the dissolved iron concentrations in the filter effluent. Effluent iron concentrations in 2020 ranged from 0.184 to 0.836 mg/L, which were higher than the 2019 data. This may be due to the oxidation process of the steel chip surface. Despite this, all effluent concentrations measured do not exceed the EPA recommendation for recreational water of 1.0 mg/L (EPA, 1986).



Figure 3.18 Iron concentrations in 2020 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 07/21/2020, (B) 08/09/2020, (C) 08/30/2020, (D) 09/07/2020

Figure 3.19 presents the nitrate concentration in the filter influent and effluent samples. An average of 8.0% of nitrate was removed over four storm events during the 2020 field filtration study. The nitrate data suggest that only limited effluent samples showed reductions in nitrate, while others did not show apparent nitrate removal. This shows that the steel byproduct filter used in this study is not effective at nitrate removal. A batch study showed that modified steel slag could remove 20% of nitrate at an initial concentration of 300 mg/L (Yang et al. 2017). This study demonstrates that slag may better remove high concentrations of nitrate. A column study on steel chips showed 68.4% nitrate removal within the first 21 days with an influent concentration of 20 mg/L (Salo et al., 2016). While these studies indicate both steel byproducts have nitrate removal potential, their experimental conditions are very different from the stormwater field filter. Their studies used much higher nitrate concentrations and reaction times. Therefore, the nitrate removal by steel products would likely vary based on concentrations and reaction times.



Figure 3.19 Nitrate removal in 2020 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 07/21/2020, (B) 08/09/2020, (C) 08/30/2020, (D) 09/07/2020

Total nitrogen was more readily removed than nitrates in the field filter. As shown in Figure 3.20, an average of 46% of total nitrogen was removed over four storm events sampled. It is possible that the steel byproduct filter more effectively removed organic nitrogen compared with nitrate. Detailed analysis of the removal of different nitrogen species would be necessary to elucidate the removal of different components of total nitrogen.



Figure 3.20 Total nitrogen removal in 2020 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 07/21/2020, (B) 08/09/2020, (C) 08/30/2020, (D) 09/07/2020

3.6.3 2021 Field Filtration Study

To evaluate the impact of a reduced ratio of steel chips to steel slag, the 2021 field filter was altered to 30% chips and 70% slag. It was observed that the material agglomeration issue was significantly improved at this ratio. Figure 3.21 shows influent and effluent E. coli concentrations during the four storm events. Influent concentrations ranged from 1,230 MPN/100 mL to 10,460 MPN/100 mL. An average of 30% of E. coli was removed. The average removal of E. coli declined from 2019 and 2020, which may be attributed to the lower amount of steel chips in the filter.



Figure 3.21 E. coli removal in 2021 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 05/25/2021, (B) 07/10/2021, (C) 07/11/2021, (D) 07/25/2021

In 2021, a reduction in the percentage of chips in the filter also led to a substantially lower average dissolved iron concentrations in the filter effluent. As shown in Figure 3.22, effluent iron concentrations ranged from 0.013 to 0.080 mg/L, and the average net increase in dissolved iron was 0.029 mg/L. The decrease in effluent iron concentrations is due to the modification of the filter to 30% chips and 70% slag. Slag is comprised primarily of limestone and silica, whereas steel chips are predominately iron (Nippon Slag Association, 2003). All dissolved iron effluent concentrations in 2021 were significantly below the EPA's recommended limit of 1.0 mg/L (EPA, 1986). This indicates that the dissolved iron concentrations leached from the field filter with the new chips to slag ratio would be safe in recreational water.



Figure 3.22 Iron concentrations in 2021 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 05/25/2021, (B) 07/10/2021, (C) 07/11/2021, (D) 07/25/2021

Figure 3.23 shows the filter influent and effluent orthophosphate concentrations. During four storm events, an average of 58% of orthophosphate was removed. The highest average removal of the individual events was during the first rainfall event on May 25, where an average of 77% was removed. This may be due to the addition of new materials to change the steel byproduct ratio of the filter. After the first event, the field filter still consistently removed orthophosphates but at lower percentages.



Figure 3.23 Orthophosphate removal in 2021 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 05/25/2021, (B) 07/10/2021, (C) 07/11/2021, (D) 07/25/2021

Total phosphorus was not as effectively removed as orthophosphates in the 2021 field filter, with an average of 41% removal. This indicates other species of phosphorus like organic phosphate and polyphosphate are not as readily removed. Figure 3.24 shows the influent and effluent total phosphorus concentrations for the four storm events sampled. The highest average removal was during the first storm event on May 25, similarly to the orthophosphates.



Figure 3.24 Total phosphorus removal in 2021 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 05/25/2021, (B) 07/10/2021, (C) 07/11/2021, (D) 07/25/2021

On average, 7.6% of nitrate was removed by the 2021 filter over two stormwater samples tested. Figure 3.25 shows the influent and effluent concentrations of nitrate during these events. The stormwater had relatively low nitrate, not exceeding 0.5 mg/L as N. The nitrate removal efficiencies in 2021 were consistent with previous years.



Figure 3.25 Nitrate removal in 2021 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 05/25/2021, (B) 07/11/2021

Figure 3.26 shows the influent and effluent total nitrogen concentrations over two storm events for the 2021 field filter. An average of 39% was removed over the two events. The results indicate that other nitrogen species such as organic nitrogen are better removed by the steel byproduct filter than nitrate. The May 25 event had significantly high total influent total nitrogen concentrations, ranging from 2.3 to 2.6 mg/L as N, while the July 10 event had concentrations ranging from 0.3 to 1.0 mg/L as N. Despite this, both events removed similar amounts of total nitrogen from the water. The May 25 event removed concentrations ranging from 0.4 to 0.8 mg/L as N, while the July 10 event removed 0.2 to 0.5 mg/L.



Figure 3.26 Total nitrogen removal in 2021 field stormwater filtration study. (A) 05/25/2021 (B) 07/11/2021

3.6.4 Comparison of 2019–2021 Field Data

Figure 3.27 shows the average removal with standard error bars in 2019, 2020, and 2021 for E. coli, total phosphate, orthophosphate, and dissolved iron. Statistical analysis using a two-tailed t test at a 95% confidence interval was used to compare the average removal percentages of E. coli, total phosphate, and orthophosphate for each field study year. Statistical analysis of nitrogen and nitrate could not be done due to limitations on the detection limits by the equipment. The results indicated that there was no statistical difference in the average removals for E. coli, total phosphate, and orthophosphate between 2019 and 2020. This shows that over a two-year period the performance of the field filter remains the same. This indicates that the steel byproduct filter can be used for long-term applications.

The t testing showed the average removal of E. coli, total phosphorus, and orthophosphate in 2021 was statistically different from 2019 and 2020. Reduced E. coli removal was expected after the filter ratio was modified to 30% chips and 70% slag. Lab scale column studies and batch studies have shown steel chips to be significantly more effective in removing E. coli than steel slag. Slightly increased orthophosphate removal is likely due to the increase in slag in the mixture. Studies have shown that slag is more effective in removing reactive phosphate (orthophosphate) because positively charged elements and compounds within the slag attract the negatively charged orthophosphates (Ping et al., 2015).



Figure 3.27 Pilot scale steel byproduct filter performance from 2019-2021. (A) Average E. coli removal, (B) average total phosphorus removal, (C) average orthophosphate removal, (D) average net iron increase

4. CONLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This study was performed to examine the long-term capability of steel byproducts in field filters to remove E. coli and other common contaminants from stormwater. Laboratory batch and column experiments were conducted to evaluate the E. coli removal capabilities of new and aged steel chips and steel slag under controlled conditions. The results of the adsorption kinetics experiments showed that steel chips removed more than 99% of E. coli after 24-hour adsorption time, while steel slag removed between 46% and 73%. New steel ships showed faster adsorption kinetics than aged steel chips. However, aged slag exhibited better E. coli removal efficiencies than new steel slag. Similar results were also observed during the continuous flow column experiments. Steel chip column reactors removed an average of 83% and 45% of E. coli for aged and new material, respectively. Steel slag column experiments were also performed to evaluate the impact of varying ratios of steel slag to chips in a mixture on E. coli removal. The results showed that ratios of 5%, 10%, 20%, and 50% steel chips removed an average of 35%, 50%, 57%, and 62% of E. coli, respectively.

After the laboratory batch studies, field filtration studies were performed to determine the removal efficiencies of E. coli and other contaminants from stormwater. The field filtration studies were conducted using an existing steel byproduct filter installed at a residential stormwater detention pond in the City of Brookings. Filter influent and effluent samples were collected from this field filter in 2019, 2020, and 2021 to examine its effect on E. coli, phosphorus, orthophosphate, nitrogen, nitrate, and iron. In 2019 and 2020, the field filter was composed of 50% steel slag and 50% steel chips; this ratio was modified to 70% steel slag and 30% steel chips in 2021. In 2019, the field filter removed an average of 53%, 48%, and 49% of E. coli, total phosphorus, and orthophosphate, respectively. In 2020, the field filter removed an average of 54%, 54%, 45%, and 8% of E. coli, total phosphorus, orthophosphate, total nitrogen, and nitrate, respectively. In 2021, the field filter removed an average of 30%, 41%, 58%, 39%, and 8% of E. coli, total phosphorus, orthophosphate, total nitrogen, and nitrate, respectively. The 2019 and 2020 field filters released an average of 0.27 mg/L of dissolved iron into the effluent while the 2021 filter released an average of 0.02 mg/L.

The results of the lab and field studies demonstrate that recycled steel byproducts are effective filter materials for long-term field application for E. coli removal. The steel byproduct filter is also capable of removing phosphate from stormwater. Steel chips showed higher E. coli removal capacity than steel slag. The ratio of steel chips to steel slag is a critical factor determining the E. coli removal efficiencies. Higher ratios of steel chips in the steel byproduct filter resulted in higher E. coli removal. However, more quantities of steel chips in the filter may cause material agglomeration during filter operation. Therefore, the steel chips to steel slag ratio should be carefully selected to minimize the material agglomeration while maintaining effective E. coli removal. The field filter operation experience from this study indicates that substantial material agglomeration occurred when the steel chips ratios exceeded 50%. When the steel chips ratio was adjusted to 30%, the material agglomeration issue was significantly improved. Therefore, we recommend that the steel chips to steel slag ratios should not exceed 30% for field scale applications. In addition, the filter detention time can be increased to improve the E. coli removal efficiencies. More full-scale filter studies should be performed to determine the optimum steel chips to steel slag ratios for stormwater treatment.

REFERENCES

- Aal, Gamal Abdel, Estella Atekwana, Sylvia Radzikowski, and Silvia Rossbach. 2009. "Effect of bacterial adsorption on low frequency electrical properties of clean quartz sands and iron-oxide coated sands." *Geophysical Research Letters* 36 (4). https://doi.org/10.1029/2008GL036196. https://www-proquestcom.excelsior.sdstate.edu/docview/849540386?pq-origsite=primo.
- Abunaser, Suhaib G., and Arwa Abdelhay. 2020. "Performance of a novel vertical flow constructed wetland for greywater treatment in rural areas in Jordan." *Environmental Technology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2020.1841832. https://www-tandfonline-com.excelsior.sdstate.edu/doi/full/10.1080/09593330.2020.1841832.
- Afrooz, A.R.M. Nabiul, and Alexandria B. Boehm. 2016. "Escherichia coli Removal in Biochar-Modified Biofilters: Effects of Biofilm." *PLOS* one https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167489. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0167489.
- Amorim, Fabiana de, Jaíza Ribeiro Motae Silva, Ronaldo Fia, Luiz Fernando Coutinho de Oliveira, and Claudio Milton Montenegro Campos 2019. "Coliform removal in a constructed wetland system used in post-swine effluent treatment." *Revista Ambiente & Água* 14 (5): 1-12. https://doi.org/10.4136/ambiagua.2402. https://www-proquest-com.excelsior.sdstate.edu/docview/2312212068?pq-origsite=primo.
- Barakat, Ahmed, Abdessamad Hilali, Mohamed El Baghdadi, and Fatima Touhami. 2019. "Assessment of shallow groundwater quality and its suitability for drinking purpose near the Béni-Mellal wastewater treatment lagoon (Morocco)." *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal* 26 (6): 1476-1495. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807039.2019.1584029. https://www-tandfonlinecom.excelsior.sdstate.edu/doi/full/10.1080/10807039.2019.1584029.
- Birawat, Khushbu K., Hymavathi T., Mathuvanthi C. Nachiyar, Mayaja N.A, and Srinivasa C.V. 2021.
 "Impact of urbanisation on lakes—a study of Bengaluru lakes through water quality index (WQI) and overall index of pollution (OIP)." *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-021-09131-w. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10661-021-09131-w.
- Bonsdorff, Erik. 2021. "Eutrophication: Early warning signals, ecosystem-level and societal responses, and ways forward." *Ambio* 50: 753-758. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-020-01432-7. https://link-springer-com.excelsior.sdstate.edu/article/10.1007/s13280-020-01432-7#ref-CR29.
- Bowden, Lawrence I., Adam P. Jarvis, Paul L. Younger, and Karen L. Johnson. 2009. "Phosphorus Removal from Waste Waters Using Basic Oxygen Steel Slag." *American Chemical Society* 43 (7): 2476-2481. https://doi.org/10.1021/es801626d. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/es801626d.
- Census of Agriculture. 2014. *Farms and Farmland*. edited by United States Department of Agriculture. Washington, D.C.: The U.S. Government Publishing Office.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. "E. Coli (Escherichia Coli)." United States Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/index.html.
- Chen, Fur-Chi, Sandria Godwin, Delores Chambers, Edgar Chambers IV, Sheryl Cates, Richard Stone, and Amy Donelan 2018. "Contamination by Meat Juice When Shopping for Packages of Raw Poultry." *Journal of Food Protection* 81 (5). https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-17-467. https://meridianallenpress-com.excelsior.sdstate.edu/jfp/article/81/5/835/175077/Contamination-by-Meat-Juice-When-Shopping-for.
- Dai, Peng 2019. "Escherichia Coli Removal from Stormwater Using Steel Chips Filter." Master of Science, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, South Dakota State University. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=4201&context=etd.

- De Lambert, Jane R., James F. Walsh, Deanna P. Scher, Aaron D. Firnstahl, and Mark A. Borchardt. 2021. "Microbial pathogens and contaminants of emerging concern in groundwater at an urban subsurface stormwater infiltration site." *Science of Total Environmental* 775. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145738. https://www-sciencedirectcom.excelsior.sdstate.edu/science/article/pii/S0048969721008056.
- Diao, Minghui, and Maosheng Yao. 2009. "Use of zero-valent iron nanoparticles in inactivating microbes." *Water Research* 43 (20): 5243-5251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.08.051. https://www-sciencedirect-com.excelsior.sdstate.edu/science/article/pii/S0043135409005569.
- Fairbairn, David J., Sarah M. Elliott, Richard L. Kiesling, Heiko L. Schoenfuss, Mark L. Ferrey, and Benjamin M. Westerhoff. 2018. "Contaminants of emerging concern in urban stormwater: Spatiotemporal patterns and removal by iron-enhanced sand filters (IESFs)." *Water Research* 145: 332-345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.08.020. https://www-sciencedirectcom.excelsior.sdstate.edu/science/article/pii/S0043135418306407.
- Gabrielyan, L., L. Hakobyan, A. Hovhannisyan, and A. Trchounian. 2019. "Effects of iron oxide (Fe3O4) nanoparticles on Escherichia coli antibiotic-resistant strains." *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 126 (4): 1108-1116. https://sfamjournals-onlinelibrary-wileycom.excelsior.sdstate.edu/doi/full/10.1111/jam.14214.
- Gomes, Joao F., Ana Lopes, Daniel Goncalves, Cristina Luxo, Marta Gmurek, Raquel Costa, Rosa M. Quinta-Ferreira, Rui C. Martins, and Ana Matos. 2018. "Biofiltration using C. fluminea for E.coli removal from water: Comparison with ozonation and photocatalytic oxidation." *Chemosphere* 208: 674-681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.06.045. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0045653518311202.

Hach Company. 2014. Iron, Total.

- Hach Company. 2017. Phosphorus, Total.
- Hach Company. 2014. Nitrate, MR.
- Hach Company. 2017. Phosphorus, Reactive (Orthophosphate).
- Hach Company. 2014. Nitrogen, Total.
- Hooshyari, Ghaem. 2017. "Evaluating Filter Materials for E. Coli Removal from Stormwater." Master of Science, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, South Dakota State University. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2205&context=etd.
- Karim, Mohammed R., Edward P. Glenn, and Charles P. Gerba. 2008. "The effect of wetland vegetation on the survival of Escherichia coli, Salmonella typhimurium, bacteriophage MS-2 and polio virus." *Journal of Water and Health*. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2008.024. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18209279/.
- Korzeniewska, Ewa, Anna Korzeniewska, and Monika Harnisz. 2013. "Antibiotic resistant Escherichia coli in hospital and municipal sewage and their emission to the environment." *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 91: 96-102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2013.01.014. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0147651313000304?casa_token=oak2ht--8ZYAAAAA:FO1jCPwtGm-</u>
- Lin, Chia-Min, Samuel Y. Fernando, and Cheng-i Wei. 1996. "Occurrence of Listeria monocytogenes, Salmonella spp., Escherichia coli and E. coli 0157:H7 in vegetable salads." *Food Control* 7 (3): 136-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/0956-7135(96)00019-9. https://www-sciencedirectcom.excelsior.sdstate.edu/science/article/pii/0956713596000199.

- Kranner, Benjamin P., A.R.M. Nabiul Afrooz, Nicole J.M. Fitzgerald, and Alexandria B. Boehm. 2019. "Fecal indicator bacteria and virus removal in stormwater biofilters: Effects of biochar, media saturation, and field conditioning." *PLOS Climate* https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222719. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0222719.
- Kulkarni, Prachi, Nathan D. Olson, Anthony Q. Bui, Rhodel N. Bradshaw, Laura P. Del Collo, Lauren E. Hittle, Eric T. Handy, Joseph N. Paulson, Jay Ghurye, Daniel J. Nasko, Cheryl East, Jo Ann Van Kessel, Kalmia E. Kniel, Pei C. Chiu, Emmanuel F. Mongodin, Mihai Pop, Manan Sharma, and Amy R. Sapkota. 2020. "Zero-Valent Iron Sand Filtration Can Reduce Human and Plant Pathogenic Bacteria While Increasing Plant Growth Promoting Bacteria in Reclaimed Water." *Journal of Environmental Science*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2020.541921. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fenvs.2020.541921/full.
- Lana, Y.Z., S. Zhang, J.K. Wang, and R.W. Smith 2006. "Phosphorus removal using steel slag." Acta Metallurgica Sinica (English Letters) 19 (6): 449-454. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1006-7191(06)62086-3. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1006719106620863.
- Li, Yungiao, Dong Yang, Shang Wang, Chenyu Li, Bin Xue, Lin Yang, Zhigiang Shen, Min Jin, Jingfeng Wang, and Zhigang Qui. 2018. "The Detailed Bactericidal Process of Ferric Oxide Nanoparticles on E. coli." *Molecules* 23 (3): 606. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23030606. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6017908/.
- Lui, Ruimin, Jiawei Wang, Jianhan Shi, Yaxin Chen, Chengchun Sun, Peipei Zhang, and Zhenyao Shen. 2014. "Runoff characteristics and nutrient loss mechanism from plain farmland under simulated rainfall conditions." *Science of The Total Environment* 468-469: 1069-1077. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.09.035. https://www-sciencedirectcom.excelsior.sdstate.edu/science/article/pii/S0048969713010735.
- Marik, Claire M., Brienna Anderson-Coughlin, Samantha Gartley, Shani Craighead, Rhodel Bradshaw, Prachi Kulkarni, Manan Sharma, and Kalmia E. Kniel. 2019. "The efficacy of zero valent iron-sand filtration on the reduction of Escherichia coli and Listeria monocytogenes in surface water for use in irrigation." *Journal of Environmental Research* 173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.02.028. https://www-sciencedirect-com.excelsior.sdstate.edu/science/article/pii/S0013935119301082.
- Mascher, Franz, Wolfgang Mascher, Franz Pichler-Semmelrock, Franz F. Reinthaler, and Gernot E. Zarfel, and Clemens Kittinger. 2017. "Impact of Combined Sewer Overflow on Wastewater Treatment and Microbiological Quality of Rivers for Recreation." *Water* 9 (11). https://doi.org/10.3390/w9110906. https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4441/9/11/906.
- Masoner, Jason R., Dana W. Kolpin, Isabelle M. Cozzarelli, Larry B. Barber. David S. Burden, William T. Foreman, Kenneth J. Forshay, Edward T. Furlong, Justin F. Groves, Michelle L. Hladik, Matthew E. Hopton, Jeanne B. Jaeschke, Steffanie H. Keefe, David P. Krabbenhoft, Richard Lowrance, Kristin M. Romanok, David L. Russ, William R. Selbig, Brianna H. Williams, and Paul M. Bradley. 2019. "Urban Stormwater: An Overlooked Pathway of Extensive Mixed Contaminants to Surface and Groundwaters in the United States." *Environmental Science and Technology* 53. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b02867. https://pubs-acs-org.excelsior.sdstate.edu/doi/pdf/10.1021/acs.est.9b02867.
- Mayo Clinic. 2020. "E. Coli." https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/e-coli/symptoms-causes/syc-20372058.

- Mezzanottea, Valeria, Francesca Marazzi, Massimiliano Bissa, Sole Pacchioni, Andrea Binelli, Marco Parolinid, Stefano Magnid, Franco M. Ruggerie, Carlo De Giuli Morghen, Carlo Zanotto, Antonia Radaellib. 2016. "Removal of enteric viruses and Escherichia coli from municipal treated effluent by zebra mussels." *Science of The Total Environment* 539: 395-400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.09.007. https://www-sciencedirectcom.excelsior.sdstate.edu/science/article/pii/S0048969715306689.
- Nastaran Basiri Jahromi, Amy Fulcher, and Forbes Walker. "What is Biochar and How Different Biochars Can Improve Your Crops."
- Neville, Jason. 2019. "Pilot Scale Evaluation of E. Coli Filtration Removal from Stormwater Using Recycled Steel." Master of Science, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, South Dakota State University. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=4185&context=etd.
- Nippon Slag Association. 2003. "About Iron and Steel Slag." https://www.slg.jp/e/slag/character.html.
- Olorunmola, Felix Oluwasola, Deboye Oriade Kolawole, and Adebayo Lamikanra. 2013. "Antibiotic Resistance and Virulence Properties in Escherichia Coli Strains from Cases of Urinary Tract Infections." *African Journal of Infectious Diseases: AJID* 7 (1). https://doi.org/10.4314/ajid.v7i1.1. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3647523/.
- Park, Seong-Jik, Chang-Gu Lee, Song-Bae Kim, Yoon-Young Chang, and Jae-Kyu Yang. 2011. "Bacterial removal in flow-through columns packed with iron-manganese bimetallic oxide coated-sand." *Journal* of Environmental Science and Health 47 (10). https://doi.org/10.1080/10934529.2012.672302. https://www-tandfonline-com.excelsior.sdstate.edu/doi/full/10.1080/10934529.2012.672302.
- Passos, Richardo Gomes, Daniel Filipe Cristelo Dias, and Marcos von Sperling. 2017. "A review of bacterial indicator disinfection mechanisms in waste stabilisation ponds." *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology* 16: 517-539. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-017-9433-2. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11157-017-9433-2.
- Passos, Richardo Gomes, Daniel Filipe Cristelo Dias, and Marcos von Sperling. 2020. "Simple mid-depth transverse baffles to improve bacterial disinfection in a shallow maturation pond – performance evaluation and CFD simulation." *Environmental Technology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2020.1832584. https://www-tandfonlinecom.excelsior.sdstate.edu/doi/full/10.1080/09593330.2020.1832584.
- Poolman, Jan. T. 2017. "Escherichia Coli." In *International Encyclopedia of Public Health*, edited by William C Cockerham. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Academic Press.
- Ping, Xu, Yang Liyun, Renaguli Aikebaier, Bai Hao. 2015. "The Removal of Phosphate and Ammonia Nitrogen from Wastewater Using Steel Slag." *Energy Technology*: 165-172. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-48220-0_18. https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-48220-0_18.
- Pratt, C., A. Shilton. 2010. "Active slag filters-simple and sustainable phosphorus removal from wastewater using steel industry byproduct." *Water Science Technology* 62 (8): 1713-1718. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2010.389. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20962385/.
- Prodanovic, Veljko, Belinda Hatt, David McCarthy, Kefeng Zhang, and Ana Deletic. 2017. "Green walls for greywater reuse: Understanding the role of media on pollutant removal." *Ecological Engineering* 102: 625-635. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2017.02.045. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S092585741730112X.
- Rasheed, Mohammed Uddin, Nooruddin Thajuddin, Parveez Ahamed, Zelalem Teklemariam, and Kaiser Jamil. 2014. "Antimicrobial drug resistant in strains of Escherichia Coli isolated from food sources." *Revista do Instituto de Medicina Tropical de São Paulo* 56 (4): 341-346. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0036-46652014000400012. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4131821/.

Saifur, Sumaiya, and Courtney M. Gardner. 2021. "Loading, transport, and treatment of emerging chemical and biological contaminants of concern in stormwater." *Water Science and Technology*. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2021.187. https://iwaponline.com/wst/article/doi/10.2166/wst.2021.187/82044/Loading-transport-and-treatmentof-emerging.

Salo, Morgan W., Guanghui Hua, Christopher G. Schmit, Christopher, and H. Hay. 2016. "Nitrate and phosphate removal from agricultural subsurface drainage using laboratory woodchip bioreactors and recycled steel byproduct filters." *Water Research* 102: 180-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.06.022. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0043135416304602?casa_token=wXolNONZgtYA AAAA:WUnDKL0rxDxZ8m4lNmYDnHOfHaSg1WwaxnLZYW550Yo0RQo c489j8YrpEWLTzGj8OjDXZqTw.

- Shirdashtzadeh, M., G.I. Chandrasena, R. Henry, and D.T. McCarthy. 2017. "Plants that can kill; improving E. coli removal in stormwater treatment systems using Australian plants with antibacterial activity." *Ecological Engineering* 107: 120-125. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2017.07.009. https://www-sciencedirect-com.excelsior.sdstate.edu/science/article/pii/S0925857417304068.
- Struck, Scott, A. Selvakumar, and M. Borst. 2006. "Performance of stormwater retention ponds and constructed wetlands in reducing microbial concentrations."
- Thurston-Enriquez, Jeanette A., John E. Gilley, and Bahman Eghball. 2005. "Microbial quality of runoff following land application of cattle manure and swine slurry." *Water and Health* 3 (2): 157-171. https:// doi.org/10.2166/wh.2005.0015. https://iwaponlinecom.excelsior.sdstate.edu/jwh/article/3/2/157/3652/Microbial-quality-of-runoff-following-land.
- United Nations. 2018. "68% of the world population projected to live in urban areas by 2050, says UN." https://www.un.org/development/desa/en/news/population/2018-revision-of-world-urbanization-prospects.html.
- United State Environmental Protection Agency. 1972. *Clean Water Act.* edited by United States Department of the Interior. Washington, DC: The United States Government Printing Office.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. 1986. *Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Bacteria*. edited by United States Department of the Interior. Washington, DC: United States Government Printing Office.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. 1990. Uses of Wetlands in Stormwater Management. edited by Department of the Interior. Washington, DC: United States Government Printing Office.
- Westholm, Lena Johansson. 2010. "The Use of Blast Furnace Slag for Removal of Phosphorus from Wastewater in Sweden—A Review." *Water* 2: 826-837. https://doi.org/10.3390/w2040826. https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4441/2/4/826
- World Health Organization. 2021. "E. Coli." https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/e-coli.
- Yang, Liyun, Maomao Yang, Ping Xu, Xiancong Zhao, Hao Bai, and Hong Li. 2017. "Characteristics of Nitrate Removal from Aqueous Solution by Modified Steel Slag." *Water* 9 (10): 757. https://doi.org/10.3390/w9100757. https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4441/9/10/757/htm.
- Yao, Yiwen, Quanhou Dai, Ruxue Gao, Yixian Gan, and Xingsong Yi. 2021. "Effects of Rainfall Intensity on Runoff and Nutrient Loss of Gently Sloping Farmland in a Karst Area of SW China." *PLOS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246505. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0246505.

Zurita, Florentina, and Alejandra Carreón-Álvarez. 2015. "Performance of three pilot-scale hybrid constructed wetlands for total coliforms and Escherichia coli removal from primary effluent – a 2-year study in a subtropical climate." *Journal of Water and Health* 13 (2): 446-458. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2014.135. https://iwaponline.com/jwh/article/13/2/446/28344/Performance-of-three-pilot-scale-hybrid.